

**OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY  
AND HEALTH STANDARDS BOARD**

2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 350

Sacramento, CA 95833

(916) 274-5721

FAX (916) 274-5743

Website address [www.dir.ca.gov/oshsb](http://www.dir.ca.gov/oshsb)**NOTICE OF PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS TO  
CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS**

**TITLE 8: Chapter 4, Subchapter 4, Article 19, Section 1632 of the Construction Safety Orders and Subchapter 7, Article 2, Section 3212 of the General Industry Safety Orders.**

**Guarding of Skylights**

Pursuant to Government Code Section 11346.8(c), the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board (Standards Board) gives notice of the opportunity to submit written comments on the above-named regulations in which further modifications are being considered as a result of public comments and/or Board staff evaluation.

On August 21, 2003, the Standards Board held a Public Hearing to consider revisions to Title 8, Section 1632 of the Construction Safety Orders, and Section 3212 of the General Industry Safety Orders, California Code of Regulations. The Standards Board received oral and written comments on the proposed revisions. The regulations have been further modified as a result of the comments and Board consideration.

A copy of the full text of the regulations as originally proposed and a copy of the modified text clearly indicating the further modifications are attached for your information. In addition, a summary of all oral and written comments regarding the original proposal and staff responses are included.

Any written comments on these modifications must be received by 5:00 p.m. on November 19, 2003, at the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board, 2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 350, Sacramento, California 95833. These regulations will be scheduled for adoption at a future business meeting of the Standards Board.

The Standards Board's rulemaking files on the proposed action are open to public inspection Monday through Friday, from 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., at the Standards Board's office at 2520 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 350, Sacramento, California 95833.

Inquiries concerning the proposed changes may be directed to the Executive Officer, Keith Umemoto at (916) 274-5721.

**OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH  
STANDARDS BOARD**

---

Date: October 31, 2003

Keith Umemoto, Executive Officer

**REGULATIONS AS ORIGINALLY PROPOSED**

STANDARDS PRESENTATION  
TO  
CALIFORNIA OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH STANDARDS BOARD

Page 1 of 3  
July 4, 2003

PROPOSED STATE STANDARD,  
TITLE 8, CHAPTER 4

Amend Section 1632 of the Construction Safety Orders as follows:

§ 1632. Floor, Roof, and Wall Openings to Be Guarded.

(a) This section shall apply to temporary or emergency conditions where there is danger of employees or materials falling through floor, roof, or wall openings, or from stairways or runways.

(b)(1) Floor, roof and skylight openings shall be guarded by ~~a standard~~ either temporary railings and toeboards or by covers.

NOTE: Requirements for guarding existing skylights are found in Section 3212(e) of the General Industry Safety Orders.

(2) Temporary railing and toeboards shall meet the requirements of Sections 1620 and 1621. In general, the railing shall be provided on all exposed sides, except at entrances to stairways.

(3) ~~Coverings~~ shall be capable of safely supporting the greater of ~~the weight of a 200-pound person~~ 400 pounds or twice the weight of the employees, equipment and materials that may be imposed on any one square foot area of the cover at any time. ~~Coverings~~ shall be secured in place to prevent accidental removal or displacement, and shall bear a pressure sensitized, painted, or stenciled sign with legible letters not less than one inch high, stating: "Opening—Do Not Remove." Markings of chalk or keel shall not be used. ~~In general, the railing shall be provided on all exposed sides, except at entrances to stairways.~~

\* \* \* \* \*

NOTE: Authority cited: Section 142.3, Labor Code. Reference: Section 142.3, Labor Code.

STANDARDS PRESENTATION  
TO  
CALIFORNIA OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH STANDARDS BOARD

Page 2 of 3  
July 4, 2003

PROPOSED STATE STANDARD,  
TITLE 8, CHAPTER 4

Amend Section 3212 of the General Industry Safety Orders as follows:

§ 3212. Floor Openings, Floor Holes, Skylights and Roofs.

(a)(1) Every floor and roof opening shall be guarded by a cover, a guardrail, or equivalent on all open sides ~~(except at entrance to stairway or ladder way)~~. While the cover is not in place, the ~~floor~~ openings shall be constantly attended by someone or shall be protected by guardrails. Toeboards shall be installed around the edges at ~~permanent~~ floor openings where persons may pass below the opening.  
EXCEPTION: Stairway or ladder way entrances.

\* \* \* \* \*

(b) ~~The construction of~~ Floor and roof opening covers shall be ~~of materials that meets the strength requirements of the surrounding floor~~ capable of safely supporting the greater of 400 pounds or twice the weight of the employees, equipment and materials that may be imposed on any one square foot area of the cover at any time. Covers shall be secured in place to prevent accidental removal or displacement, and shall bear a pressure sensitized, painted, or stenciled sign with legible letters not less than one inch high, stating: "Opening—Do Not Remove." Markings of chalk or keel shall not be used.

\* \* \* \* \*

(e) Any employee approaching within 6 feet of any skylight shall be protected from falling through the skylight or skylight opening by any one of the following methods:

(1) Skylight screens. The design, construction, and installation of skylight screens shall be of such construction and mounting that they are capable of withstanding a load of at least 200 pounds applied perpendicularly at any one area on the screen meet the strength requirements equivalent to that of covers specified in subsection (b) above. They shall also be of such design, construction and mounting that under ordinary design loads and impacts, they will not deflect downward sufficiently to break the glass below them. The construction shall be of grillwork, with openings not more than 4 inches ~~long~~ x 4 inches or of slatwork with openings not more than 2 inches wide with length unrestricted, or of other material of equal strength and similar configuration, ~~or (Title 24, Part 2, Section 2-3402)~~

(2) ~~Where existing skylights are not guarded in accordance with subsection (e)(1), and where there is a need for any employee to approach within 6 feet of any skylight, employee(s) shall be provided with fall protection for the duration of fall exposure by:~~

- ~~(A) The use of an approved safety belt and lanyard securely anchored to a solid structure, or~~
- ~~(B) Temporary covers capable of sustaining the weight of a 200 pound person installed over the skylight, or~~

STANDARDS PRESENTATION  
TO  
CALIFORNIA OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH STANDARDS BOARD

Page 3 of 3  
July 4, 2003

PROPOSED STATE STANDARD,  
TITLE 8, CHAPTER 4

~~(C) Temporary 42-inch railing enclosures, temporary warning lines, or cones installed/positioned no closer than 24 inches from the skylight curb.~~

Guardrails meeting the requirements of Section 3209, or

(3) The use of a personal fall protection system meeting the requirements of Section 1670 of the Construction Safety Orders, or

(4) Covers meeting the requirements of subsection (b) installed over the skylights, or

(5) Temporary warning lines installed not less than 6 feet from the curb of the skylight or roof or floor openings. For workers between warning lines and skylight, or roof or floor openings, subsections (e)(1) through (e)(4) shall apply. When used, warning lines shall consist of ropes, wires, or equivalent materials and supporting stanchions as follows:

(A) The supporting stanchions (portable or fixed) supporting the warning lines shall be designed and installed or positioned to minimize tip over or displacement under normal working conditions.

(B) Each line shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked at not more than 6 – foot intervals with high-visibility material.

(C) Each line shall be rigged and supported in such a way that its lowest point (including sag) is not less than 39 inches from working level/working area and its highest point not more than 45 inches.

(D) Each line as installed shall have a minimum breaking strength of 200 pounds.

EXCEPTION: When the work is of short duration and limited exposure such as measuring, roof inspection, electrical/mechanical equipment inspection, etc., and the time involved in rigging and installing the safety devices required in subsections (e)(~~21~~)(A) through (e)(~~24~~)(C) equal or exceed the performance of the designated tasks of measuring, roof inspection, electrical/mechanical equipment inspection, etc.; these provisions may be temporarily suspended provided that adequate risk control is recognized and maintained.

(f) Access shall not be permitted on glazed surfaces such as roofs, vaults, canopies, or skylights glazed with transparent or translucent materials unless an engineer currently registered in the State of California and experienced in the design of such glazed structures has certified that the surface will support all anticipated loads. Employees working on such surfaces shall be protected by a fall protection system meeting the requirements of Section 1670 of the Construction Safety Orders.

(g) When glazed surfaces cannot be safely accessed for maintenance in accordance with subsection (f), scaffolds, catwalks, rolling ladders, platforms or other methods of safe access shall be provided.

NOTE: Authority cited: Section 142.3, Labor Code. Reference: Section 142.3, Labor Code.

**PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS**

**(Modifications are indicated by bold, double-underlined for new language and bold, strikeout for deleted language.)**

**(Only modified pages are included.)**

STANDARDS PRESENTATION  
TO  
CALIFORNIA OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH STANDARDS BOARD

Page 1 of 2  
October 6, 2003

PROPOSED STATE STANDARD,  
TITLE 8, CHAPTER 4

Amend Section 3212 of the General Industry Safety Orders as follows:

§ 3212. Floor Openings, Floor Holes, Skylights and Roofs.

(a)(1) Every floor and roof opening shall be guarded by a cover, a guardrail, or equivalent on all open sides (~~except at entrance to stairway or ladder way~~). While the cover is not in place, the ~~floor~~ openings shall be constantly attended by someone or shall be protected by guardrails. Toeboards shall be installed around the edges at ~~permanent~~ floor openings where persons may pass below the opening. EXCEPTION: Stairway or ladder way entrances.

\* \* \* \* \*

(b) ~~The construction of floor and roof opening covers shall be~~ **designed by a qualified person and be of materials that meets the strength requirements of the surrounding floor capable of safely supporting the greater of 400 pounds or twice the weight of the employees, equipment and materials that may be imposed on any one square foot area of the cover at any time.** Covers shall be secured in place to prevent accidental removal or displacement, and shall bear a pressure sensitized, painted, or stenciled sign with legible letters not less than one inch high, stating: "Opening—Do Not Remove." Markings of chalk or keel shall not be used.

\* \* \* \* \*

(e) Any employee approaching within 6 feet of any skylight shall be protected from falling through the skylight or skylight opening by any one of the following methods:

(1) Skylight screens. The design, construction, and installation of skylight screens shall be of such construction and mounting that they are capable of withstanding a load of at least 200 pounds applied perpendicularly at any one area on the screen meet the strength requirements equivalent to that of covers specified in subsection (b) above. They shall also be of such design, construction and mounting that under ordinary design loads and impacts, they will not deflect downward sufficiently to break the glass below them. The construction shall be of grillwork, with openings not more than 4 inches ~~long~~ **by 4 inches** or of slatwork with openings not more than 2 inches wide with length unrestricted, or of other material of equal strength and similar configuration, ~~or (Title 24, Part 2, Section 2-3402)~~

(2) ~~Where existing skylights are not guarded in accordance with subsection (e)(1), and where there is a need for any employee to approach within 6 feet of any skylight, employee(s) shall be provided with fall protection for the duration of fall exposure by:~~

- ~~(A) The use of an approved safety belt and lanyard securely anchored to a solid structure, or~~
- ~~(B) Temporary covers capable of sustaining the weight of a 200 pound person installed over the skylight, or~~

STANDARDS PRESENTATION  
TO  
CALIFORNIA OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH STANDARDS BOARD

Page 2 of 2  
October 6, 2003

PROPOSED STATE STANDARD,  
TITLE 8, CHAPTER 4

~~(C) Temporary 42-inch railing enclosures, temporary warning lines, or cones installed/positioned no closer than 24 inches from the skylight curb.~~

Guardrails meeting the requirements of Section 3209, or

(3) The use of a personal fall protection system meeting the requirements of Section 1670 of the Construction Safety Orders, or

(4) Covers meeting the requirements of subsection (b) installed over the skylights, or

(5) Temporary warning lines installed not less than 6 feet from the curb of the skylight or roof or floor openings. For workers between warning lines and skylight, or roof or floor openings, subsections (e)(1) through (e)(4) shall apply. When used, warning lines shall consist of ropes, wires, or equivalent materials and supporting stanchions as follows:

(A) The supporting stanchions (portable or fixed) supporting the warning lines shall be designed and installed or positioned to minimize tip over or displacement under normal working conditions.

(B) Each line shall be flagged or otherwise clearly marked at not more than 6 – foot intervals with high-visibility material.

(C) Each line shall be rigged and supported in such a way that its lowest point (including sag) is not less than 39 inches from working level/working area and its highest point not more than 45 inches.

(D) Each line as installed shall have a minimum breaking strength of 200 pounds.

EXCEPTION: (1) When the work is of short duration and limited exposure such as measuring, roof inspection, electrical/mechanical equipment inspection, etc., and the time involved in rigging and installing the safety devices required in subsections (e)(21)(A) through (e)(24)(C) equal or exceed the performance of the designated tasks of measuring, roof inspection, electrical/mechanical equipment inspection, etc.; these provisions may be temporarily suspended provided that adequate risk control is recognized and maintained. (2) For qualified persons working in proximity to skylights and who perform detail work (i.e. hot mopping and application of roof membrane materials) around the skylight curb on large open roof areas with existing multiple skylights, subsections (e)(1) through (e)(4) may be temporarily suspended while employees work inside the warning lines specified in subsection (e)(5) provided a spotter is present, and it can be demonstrated that use of one or more methods in subsections (e)(1) through (e)(4) will, due to the nature of the work, either prevent the work from being done or create a greater hazard.

(f) Access shall not be permitted on glazed surfaces such as roofs, vaults, canopies, or skylights glazed with transparent or translucent materials unless an engineer currently registered in the State of California and experienced in the design of such glazed structures has certified that the surface will support all anticipated loads. Employees working on such surfaces shall be protected by a fall protection system meeting the requirements of Section 1670 of the Construction Safety Orders.

## **SUMMARY AND RESPONSE TO COMMENTS**

## **SUMMARY AND RESPONSE TO WRITTEN AND ORAL COMMENTS**

### I. Written Comments:

Mr. Steven Johnson, Director of Safety and Compliance Services, Associated Roofing Contractors of the Bay Area Counties, Inc., by letter dated August 15, 2003.

#### Comment:

Mr. Johnson stated that he was a member of the advisory committee which reviewed proposed changes to Construction Safety Orders (CSO) Section 1632 and General Industry Safety Orders (GISO) Section 3212. Mr. Johnson stated that the Associated Roofing Contractors oppose the deletion of existing GISO Section 3212 (e)(2)(C), which allows the use of temporary warning lines or cones in close proximity to existing skylights to warn employees of the potential fall hazard. Mr. Johnson indicated that elimination of this provision is unnecessary and will cause an undue burden on roofing contractors and their employees. Mr. Johnson stated that it appears that the Division of Occupational Safety and Health (Division) is proposing changes to existing GISO Section 3212, because the Division contends that this regulation is different from its federal counterpart, relying on data from the Federal Integrated Management Information System (FIMIS), which shows that there were many instances of falls through skylights and skylight openings in Region IX and California between 1990 and 2001. The Division therefore believes that California is not at least as effective as federal counterpart regulations and must be amended. Mr. Johnson stated that he disagrees.

Mr. Johnson questioned the validity of the FIMIS data provided and relied upon by the Division, stating that (1) his organization has been unable to replicate some of the data; (2) the data lack crucial details; and (3) in some cases, data were not relevant since the injuries were not the result of falls through skylights. Mr. Johnson stated that many of the accidents recorded in the FIMIS data were the result of the employer's failure to comply with existing regulations. Moreover, not a single accident included in the data involved an employee falling through a skylight where temporary warning lines or cones were used.

Mr. Johnson agrees with the Division that too many workers have been injured via falls through skylights and skylight openings. He argues that more regulations are not what is needed to correct the problem; but rather, more effort needs to be focused on enforcing existing standards.

#### Response:

Board staff has reviewed the FIMIS data and notes that the key identifier used in the data is the Standard Industrial Classification Code (SIC), which appears next to each accident entry. A review of the SIC codes further reveals that roofers are "lumped" into one SIC classification code with sheet metal and siding trades as SIC code "176." While the FIMIS data provided and relied upon by the Division clearly shows a record of falls through skylight openings for SIC code 176 trades, there is no way to determine the percentage of those accidents that pertain specifically to roofers, nor the extent of employer compliance with existing Title 8 requirements at the time of the accident. Consequently,

Board staff concurs with Mr. Johnson to the extent that the Division's data, as it has been presented for consideration, cannot be used to conclude that existing regulations permitting the use of cones and temporary warning lines, as currently provided in Section 3212(e)(2)(C), are ineffective in comparison to federal counterpart regulations.

As Mr. Johnson mentioned, Board staff convened an advisory committee on November 18, 2002, to consider amendments to GISO Section 3212 and CSO Section 1632. It was Board staff's finding that the committee arrived at a consensus<sup>1</sup> recommendation to amend existing Section 3212(e)(2)(C) to replace the cones and warning line option with a more stringent option specifying the use of substantial temporary warning lines (minimum 200-pound breaking strength) mounted on supporting stanchions, intermittently flagged at 6-foot intervals for high visibility and placed 6 feet away from the skylight curb. The proposal, based on the committee's recommendations, requires that any employee in between the warning line and the skylight shall be provided with positive means of fall protection (i.e. covers, screens, personal fall arrest system, or guardrails). While Mr. Johnson was a participant in the advisory committee deliberations, Board staff has no record of any objections or concerns expressed by Mr. Johnson at the meeting. However, at the August 21, 2003 Public Hearing in Sacramento, Mr. Johnson expressed concern over the language in proposed new Section 3212(e)(5), which amends the use of temporary warning lines as an option for guarding skylights and was derived from existing Section 3212(e)(2)(C).

In a September 11, 2003, telephone conversation, Mr. Johnson clarified his concerns to Board staff regarding the use of stanchions and warning lines, but only in relation to jobs involving multiple skylights spread out over a large area roof, and the need for roofers to be able to work around them while performing detail work (i.e., hot mopping of tar and the laying of roof membrane materials around and right up to the base of the skylight curb). Board staff learned that roofing detail work is a planned, methodical, orderly and repetitive process of hot mopping and the manually laying down and placement (fitting up) of roofing membrane material onto a freshly tarred roof surface, typically up to the base of the skylight curb. It usually takes place in conjunction with refurbishment of an existing roof, and is typically performed by a small, trained team of employees, each acting as coordinators and spotters for the other. Once a "process rhythm" is established, the team will move from skylight to skylight taking anywhere from 5 to 10 minutes to perform the detail work before moving on to the next skylight. Considering this team system, staff understands how the proposed regulation in its present form would present a problem to the employees performing detail work. As an example, the use of personal fall protection within an area where fresh, hot, viscous asphalt tar is applied in copious quantities could lead to damage and entanglement of the lines attached to each employee. Point-to-point travel becomes another problem. Guardrails would need to be placed, repositioned and replaced each time detailing was performed. On fresh asphalt, such guardrails might even adhere to the surface.

Consequently, staff believes that modification of the exception that follows Section 3212(e)(5) is justified. Board staff proposes an additional exception to the existing short duration work exception following Section 3212(e)(5) that is intended to provide temporary flexibility to the fall protection

---

<sup>1</sup> The Department of Occupational Safety and Health's "Staff Guidelines on Using an Advisory Committee to Develop a Rulemaking Proposal" states that "While a consensus is more than a simple majority, it does not refer to a recommendation or position held by the Advisory Committee members that is unanimous."

requirement provided that: 1) the work to be performed is detail work (i.e., hot mopping and application of roof membrane materials); 2) the work is performed by “qualified persons;” 3) that a spotter is present; and 4) the employer can demonstrate that the use of any of the positive fall protection means specified in Section 3212(e)(1-4) would either prevent the work from being done or create a greater hazard.

The Board thanks Mr. Johnson for his comment and participation in the Board’s rulemaking process.

Ms. LeEllen Williams, Executive Director, Roofing Contractors Association (RCA) of Southern California, Inc., by letter dated August 19, 2003.

Comment:

Ms. Williams stated that she was a member of the advisory committee which met to discuss board staff’s proposed amendments to Sections 1632 and 3212, and stated that the RCA is opposed to the deletion of Section 3212(e)(2)(C) which allows the use of temporary warning lines and cones to be placed in close proximity to existing skylights to warn employers of the potential fall hazard. Ms. Williams stated that the elimination of this provision will result in undue hardship on roofing contractors and their employees.

Ms. Williams stated that the RCA concurs with Mr. Johnson’s evaluation and reiterates Mr. Johnson’s conclusion that the problem is not the result of an ineffective regulation, but rather, employer non-compliance with the existing regulation. Ms. Williams stated that RCA supports Mr. Johnson’s call for increased enforcement of the regulation by the Division.

Ms. Williams closed by stating that the RCA does not want to see its employees injured on any jobs and that the roofing industry works diligently to support provisions in safety regulations that help them keep employees safe. She stated that in RCA’s opinion, it is illogical that the Standards Board would require a change in a regulation because the current regulation is not adequately enforced.

Response:

See Board staff’s response to Mr. Johnson’s comment above.

The Board thanks Ms. Williams for her comment and participation in the Board’s rulemaking process.

Mr. Mark Evans, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Evans Roofing Company, Inc., by letter dated August 20, 2003.

Comment:

Mr. Evans stated that typically roofers provide barricades at the open deck areas where skylights are absent from the skylight opening or they will provide a cover made of plywood with stenciling that warn workers not to step on the cover. Mr. Evans stated that barricades are used when there is no roofing

work being done. The opening might have been created as a result of a skylight or HVAC equipment installation. Mr. Evans stated that all unattended holes should be barricaded, however, this is not the case with an existing, fully intact skylight.

Mr. Evans explained the problems using barricades for fall protection while roofing work is being performed. First, he indicated that skylights are essentially holes that need barricades if it is unattended and dangerous. He states that they cannot be set on freshly laid roofing as they adhere to the hot asphalt, creating a greater hazard by constantly prying them off to resituate them on each subsequent layer of roofing. Furthermore, barricades cannot be used when administering the roofing around the skylight perimeter, as it needs to be completely sealed.

The use of covers over existing skylights creates additional problems, because they too have to be continually positioned and repositioned for the next layer of roofing material. While Mr. Evans notes the existence of a skylight cover that can be permanently affixed to the roof above the skylight, he stated that it cannot be effectively reused. In addition, it is highly questionable as to whether such skylight covers would violate the fire codes which specifically prohibit the mounting of any obstruction to the skylight system for skylights designed to blow open in case of fire, smoke or heat.

Lastly, use of a personal fall arrest system (being tied off with a life line) creates a very serious hazard for employees, such as the felt layer who typically walks backwards concentrating on laying down a smooth flow of asphalt onto the roof. Safety lines could be come damaged, entangled or otherwise rendered unsafe for use resulting in even more threatening fall hazards. Mr. Evans stated that cable should be used where the worker is stationary and unable to ensure his/her balance because of roof slope or reach conditions. Retractable cable systems must be able to operate smoothly to be effective and not become entangled or stuck with asphalt. Since such personal fall protection systems has to ensure that the worker does not fall more than two feet, the felt layer would have to reattach his/her cable every 3.5 feet. The number of anchors you would need on the roof would be staggering.

Mr. Evans concluded by stating that he believes the regulations will have the opposite effect on fall protection because no one (roofer) will be able to follow them. Thus, it would lead to more hazardous conditions.

Response:

See Board staff's response to Mr. Johnson's comment above. Board staff recognizes the unique fall protection challenges with respect to roofing operations involving skylights and/or skylight openings and proposes to modify the proposal accordingly.

The Board thanks Mr. Evans for his comment and participation in the Board's rulemaking process.

Mr. Len Welsh, Chief, Division of Occupational Safety and Health (Division), by memorandum to the Board dated August 22, 2003.

Comment:

Mr. Welsh stated that the Division's original Form 9, Request for New, or Change in Existing, Safety Order, requested that the use of cones and warning lines be deleted from existing Section 3212(e)(2)(c). Mr. Welsh stated that proposed Section 3212(e)(5), which permits the use of warning lines, should be deleted. He stated that warning lines do not provide effective temporary or permanent solution fall protection, especially when workers approach the skylight, because they are easily crossed by workers and are subject to deterioration and movement. Mr. Welsh noted that the comparable federal regulations contained in 29 CFR Part 1910.23 (a)(4) require skylight floor openings be guarded by skylight screens or guardrails, but do not allow the use of warning lines because they are considered to be less effective than screens or guardrails.

Response:

As stated in the Board's response to Mr. Johnson's comment, Board staff convened a representative advisory committee on November 18, 2002, to consider amendments to GISO Section 3212 and CSO Section 1632. Following lengthy discussion, it was Board staff's finding that the committee's consensus recommendation was to retain the short duration/limited exposure exception in Section 3212, delete the existing optional use of cones and warning lines contained in Section 3212(e)(2)(c) and replace it with a more stringent option specifying the use of substantial warning lines. These warning lines are to: (1) have a minimum 200-pound breaking strength, (2) be attached to stanchions positioned so to minimize displacement or toppling over, and (3) be intermittently flagged every 6 feet for increased visibility with the line resting no less than 39 inches, but not higher than 45 inches above the working surface. The warning lines and stanchions are to be placed not closer than 6 feet from the skylight curb.

The advisory committee minutes reflect a debate between the Division and the roofing industry as to whether or not the use of cones/warning lines, as currently allowed in Section 3212, should be deleted. Board staff believes that the current proposal, as modified, reflects a reasonable compromise which accommodates both industry and Division concerns. The proposed language in Section 3212(e)(5) provides a conspicuous visual warning to employees and a barrier intended to keep employees away from the danger zone while providing a reasonable fall protection option. The proposal, as modified, recognizes instances where a certain means of fall protection, such as covers, screens, personal fall protection and guardrails, can be problematic (particularly to roofers) or ineffective, or can contribute to even greater hazards, as described in Mr. Johnson's and Mr. Evans' comments.

In response to the Division's comment as to the effectiveness of the proposal in comparison to federal counterpart regulations, Board staff has not received any correspondence from Federal OSHA Region IX stating that the use of warning lines in existing Section 3212(e)(2)(C) is not at least as effective as federal language, as requested. Board staff notes that the determination of effectiveness is not judged solely on whether or not the state plan language is verbatim of the federal language, but whether, in the opinion of Federal OSHA, the state plan language effectively addresses the issue and provides equivalent safety. Moreover, Board staff wishes to emphasize that while the use of warning lines is still permitted in proposed new Section 3212(e)(5), their construction and use as a means of fall protection

are consistent with, and in some cases more stringent than, federal counterpart regulations contained in 1926.502(f)(2).

Based on the foregoing, the Board believes deletion of Section 3212(e)(5) as suggested by the Division is unnecessary, however the Board has modified the provision to address the Division's comments to the extent that the Board proposes to delete the existing cones/warning line requirement for a more stringent stanchions/warning line requirement.

## II. Oral Comments:

Oral comments received at the August 21, 2003 Public Hearing in Sacramento, California.

Dialog between Mr. Patrick Bell, Senior Safety Engineer, representing the Division of Occupational Safety and Health (Division); Steve Rank, Chairman, Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board (Board); Len Welsh, Chief, Division; and Mr. Art Murray, Board Member.

### Comment:

Mr. Bell stated that the Division would like to see Section 3212(e)(5) which permits the use of temporary warning lines modified by deleting the language that permits their use in conjunction with cones. He stated that they do not provide fall protection as mandated by the rule and are not as effective as guardrails or covers for protecting workers who might be at risk for falling through skylights or skylight openings. Mr. Bell stated that there have been too many fatalities and believes that deletion of the warning line option is necessary. Mr. Bell mentioned that there is nothing to prevent employees from crossing a warning line. Mr. Bell stated that Federal OSHA requires all skylights to be protected by either guardrails or covers; consequently, the Division believes the proposal is less effective than federal counterpart regulations. When asked by Chairman Rank if the Division could substantiate their concern with documentation, Mr. Bell stated that he could not but that statistical documentation had been submitted with the Division's original Form 9. Mr. Welsh added that the Division's comment letter had not yet been signed, but would be submitted after the hearing.

There was additional dialog between Board member Art Murray and Mr. Bell. Mr. Murray asked Mr. Bell if he participated in staff's advisory committee meeting and reviewed the meeting minutes. Mr. Bell responded that he had. Mr. Murray stated that the minutes reflect consensus among the advisory committee members with regard to the issue of warning lines. Mr. Bell recalled that there had been such a discussion at the meeting, but there was no consensus that warning lines should be permitted. Mr. Murray inquired whether there were any federal provisions that permit the use of warning lines. Mr. Bell stated that the purpose of the Division's Form 9 was to ensure that Title 8 is at least as effective as the federal regulations.

### Response:

Section 3212(a)(1) requires that roof and/or skylight openings be guarded by a cover, guardrail or equivalent. When covers are not in place, Section 3212 requires that the opening be constantly attended by someone or be protected with a guardrail. For existing skylights requiring maintenance, repair and/or replacement, or reapplication of roofing materials around the skylight(s), Section 3212(e) of the proposal applies. Section 3212(e) requires the employer to protect any employee who may

approach a skylight within 6 feet from the opening by (1) skylight screens or guardrails which meet the requirements of Section 3209, (2) use of a personal fall protection system (tying off to an anchorage point), or (3) substantial warning lines possessing a minimum 200-pound breaking strength, conspicuously flagged every 6 feet, and attached to stanchions secured against falling over positioned at least 6 feet away from the skylight.

In its Form 9 request, the Division specifically requested that Section 3212(e)(2)(C) be amended to delete the existing cones or warning line option placed 24 inches away from the skylight. The advisory committee concurred, but agreed to replace it with the warning line option reflected in the proposed language in Section 3212(e)(5). The proposed language prohibits an employee from being within the 6-foot perimeter of the stanchions and warning lines, unless the skylight is provided with a cover or screen, or the employee was tied off to an anchorage point. Board staff believes that the proposal is a fair and reasonable compromise between industry and Division concerns while maintaining effectiveness relative to federal counterpart regulations. See also the response to Mr. Welsh's written comment above.

Regarding the data and documentation supplied and relied upon by the Division, see Board staff's response to Mr. Johnson's written comment.

For the reasons stated above, the Board believes modification of the proposal to delete the proposed language in Section 3212(e)(5) is unnecessary.

Dialog between Mr. Steve Johnson, Associated Roofing Contractors of the Bay Area Counties (ARCBAC); Liz Arioto, Board Member; Mr. Art Murray, Board Member; and Steve Rank, Chairman, Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board.

Comment:

Mr. Johnson stated that he participated in the advisory committee to review proposed amendments to Sections 1632 and 3212. He indicated that while California standards are different from federal language, there is no evidence anywhere to suggest that California's existing standards are not at least as effective as the federal counterpart language. Mr. Johnson stated that the Division's request to amend Section 3212 is predicated on Federal Integrated Management Information System (FIMIS) data from Federal OSHA from 1990-2001. Mr. Johnson's evaluation of the data indicate that there is nothing to suggest that warning lines or cones are ineffective. Mr. Johnson believes the Division's request for change to Section 3212 is unsupported and that better enforcement of existing regulations is what is needed. Mr. Johnson indicated that changes to Section 3212 have a proportionally greater impact upon roofing operations than any other trade, and multiple skylights on large open area roofs can present the most challenging fall protection issues. For example, tying off in the presence of hot, tarry asphalt can present many new hazards. Mr. Johnson stated that warning lines are effective and cones are useful in situations where there are skylight configurations that do not allow room to work. Warning lines can be used to demarcate areas of the roof where no work is being conducted. Mr. Johnson emphasized that the roofing industry is very concerned about their employees falling through skylights; and only until building codes adopted the 400-pound strength requirement for skylights will skylights will be sufficiently

strong to withstand an employee fall. Given the nature of the work, the use of cones and warning lines for day-to-day roofing operations is a necessity.

Following Mr. Johnson's comments, Board dialog ensued with Ms. Arioto asking Mr. Johnson if he was aware of any accidents using cones. Mr. Johnson replied that the data in the rulemaking file do not show incidents where workers have walked by cones and fallen through a skylight. Ms. Arioto questioned the effectiveness of cones as warning devices in preventing employees from backing up into openings. Mr. Johnson replied that the only practical use of a cone would be a situation where use of warning lines 6 feet away from the skylight is impossible. Mr. Murray asked Mr. Johnson if the advisory committee determined that use of cones should be prohibited, leaving the warning line option. Mr. Johnson replied that there was discussion on that issue, but no consensus was reached. Mr. Murray also asked Mr. Johnson if he believed the federal regulations allow the use of warning lines and cones. Mr. Johnson replied that they do not. Mr. Murray then questioned whether use of cones and warning lines would be at least as effective as the federal standards. Mr. Johnson stated that existing regulations in California are at least as effective as the federal regulations.

Response:

See Board staff's response to written comments from Mr. Steve Johnson, Ms. LeEllen Williams, and Mr. Mark Evans, and Mr. Patrick Bell's oral comment at the August 21, 2003 Public Hearing.

Board staff agrees with Mr. Johnson that roofers are proportionally more affected by the proposed amendments and modifications to Section 3212 than any other trade. At the same time, employees are by experience more qualified and accustomed to working on roofs than most other trade-persons. Board staff recognizes the fall protection problem facing roofers in performing what is known in the roofing industry as "detail work" around multiple skylights on large open area roofs with teams of trained roofers attempting to conduct their methodical work. While it was Board staff's finding that the committee's consensus recommended deleting the use of simple cones and utilizing more substantial stanchions and warning lines, in recognition of the industry's dilemma. Board staff proposes a modification to the proposal which would permit workers to be inside a 6-foot fall protection perimeter only when certain conditions are met, including the use of a spotter to warn the employee when he/she is in danger of falling through a skylight. Since use of a spotter has proven to be an effective accident deterrent in other industry operations (as required by Title 8), Board staff believes it will be equally effective for workers performing detail work around skylights, as stipulated in the modification proposed to the exception in Section 3212(e)(5).

The Board agrees with Mr. Johnson that amending the building code to require all skylights to meet increased strength requirements will have a positive effect on fall protection around skylights. Moreover, the Board recognizes that Title 8 may vary from the verbatim federal language (as it does on a variety of issues), it does not necessarily mean that the state's regulations are not as least as effective as federal counterpart regulations.

The Board is of the opinion that the proposal, as modified, will accommodate the needs of the industry and increase employee safety, while not compromising its effectiveness relative to federal counterpart regulations.

Mr. John Bobis, Aerojet, Incorporated.

Comment:

Mr. Bobis stated his familiarity with accidents involving employees falling through skylights and stated that they were the result of covers, screens or guardrails being improperly designed, used or maintained. Mr. Bobis suggested that the “Note” in Section 1632 become part of the regulation. Mr. Bobis also suggested rewording the “Note” following Section 1632(b)(1) to read: “Floor, roof, and skylight openings shall be guarded in accordance with Section 3212(e) of the General Industry Safety Orders by standard or temporary railings or covers.” Mr. Bobis further suggested modifying Section 3212(b) to require that covers be designed by a qualified person. Mr. Bobis indicated that he was not sure where the proposed 400-pound strength requirement came from; but that in some cases, it may not be enough and consequently should be designed by a qualified person. With regard to the use of warning lines, Mr. Bobis indicated that such lines are permitted by roofing regulations in existing Title 8, Article 30, and that federal standards permit the use of a fall protection plan, which permits the use of warning lines in lieu of guardrails.

Response:

The Board agrees with Mr. Bobis that there are falls through skylights that are attributable to improperly designed or otherwise inadequate skylight covers. The use of covers and railing protection is by no means a guarantee that an employee will be protected from a fall through a skylight or skylight opening. Obviously, the cover, screen or guardrail must be able to withstand, without failure, the anticipated loads, or the protection will be severely compromised. However, the Board believes the Note which follows Section 1632(b)(1) is sufficiently clear to indicate to the employer that the guarding requirements for existing skylights are to be found in GISO Section 3212(e). Therefore, it does not need to become part of the regulation to improve its effectiveness or enforceability. The guarding requirements for existing skylights are in Title 8, Section 3212 and can be easily located. In addition, the Note refers the reader to GISO Section 3212(e), which contains an internal reference to GISO Section 3209 in subsection (e)(2). Section 3209 contains design requirements for guardrails whenever guardrail protection is required and appears to be the correct guardrail standard to apply in this case. Therefore, the Board believes that no modification to the proposal with regard to the issues described above is necessary.

The Board agrees, however, with Mr. Bobis’ suggestion to specify that covers be designed by a “qualified person,” consistent with other Title 8 regulations. The 400-pound strength requirement is a crucial factor in the effectiveness of the cover to support the load of an employee who should step or fall onto it, however, there may be instances when it is necessary to design for a higher strength requirement. Consequently, the Board has modified Section 3212(b) as suggested by Mr. Bobis.

Dialog between Mr. Michael Kanther, Chief of Risk Management, Division of the Los Angeles County Fire Department; also with Captain Ken Douglass and Captain Tony Duran; Board Chairman Steve Rank, Board Member Liz Arioto, Mr. Len Welsh, Chief, Division, and Mr. Michael J. Manieri Jr., Principal Safety Engineer, Standards Board.

Comment:

Mr. Kanther noted that according to the Initial Statement of Reasons, the rulemaking was believed to be necessary as a result of a number of falls through skylights that occurred between 1990 and 2001. Mr. Kanther indicated that he was aware of the Division's Form 9 request. Mr. Kanther stated that the proposal may have an unintended effect upon fire departments and fire services statewide. Mr. Kanther explained that fire departments/fire services perform what is known as "roof company operations," where firefighter trainees are taken to the top of a building to cut holes in the roof with saws and practice roof venting techniques designed to allow smoke and heat to escape from a burning building thus allowing fire crews on the ground to enter the building to (1) rescue trapped victims, (2) contain the fire and (3) save the structure. Mr. Kanther stated that such operations and the ability to conduct a realistic training exercise might be severely impeded by the requirement to provide hole coverings, warning signs, guardrails, etc. Given this, the Los Angeles County Fire Department and other fire departments across the state asked the Board to consider convening an advisory committee to take into account how Section 3212(a), Section 1632, and numerous other Title 8 regulations that affect fire departments and fire service agencies.

Ms. Arioto asked whether there was a way to come up with some type of exemption for fire departments without convening an advisory committee. Mr. Welsh responded that the regulations as they are currently written cause some problems for the fire department and this rulemaking presents an opportunity to deal with this conflict. Mr. Kanther stated that the fire service was not considered when the regulations were written, however, the proposal does affect their ability to train personnel. Mr. Welsh added that an advisory committee could be convened, or the Division could meet with staff members to resolve the issue.

Mr. Manieri stated exceptions have been written in the past for fire services and training for fire services. Mr. Welsh stated that he would like to have the Division and staff meet with the fire agencies and develop a proposal. Chairman Rank assured Mr. Kanther that the Board would work with him on this issue.

Response:

In retrospect, the Board believes the issue of fire service exemptions needs to be thoroughly explored via an advisory committee for these and other issues raised elsewhere in Title 8. Board staff recommends initiating this review through the petition process. Meanwhile, Mr. Kanther may wish to consider the variance process, as permitted under Labor Code Section 143, to bring more immediate relief to the regulatory requirements.